COURT OF APPEALS NO. 73406-7  
KING COUNTY NO. 13-2-29758-2

---

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION ONE

---

FRANK BUCCI, in individual,

Appellant,

v.

NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC., SUCCESSOR BY  
MERGER TO NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES PLLC FKA  
NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, LLC, a Washington corporation;  
RCO Legal, P.S., Washington Professional Services Organization;  
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. a national banking association; U.S.  
BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association;  
SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING, INC., a Foreign Corporation  
registered in Washington,

Respondents.

---

APPELLANT FRANK BUCCI'S OPENING BRIEF

---

## I. INTRODUCTION

This case presents a dispute between Frank Bucci and (1) U.S. Bank, National Association, successor trustee to Bank of America, N.A., successor in interest to LaSalle Bank N.A., as trustee, on behalf of the holders of the WaMu Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2007-0A6 (“USB as Trustee”); (2) Select Portfolio Servicing (“SPS”); (3) JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“Chase”); (4) Northwest Trustee Services Inc. (“NWTS”); and (5) RCO Legal, P.S. (“RCO”) that culminated in the Orders granting Respondents’ Motions for Summary Judgment, entered on February 27, 2015, March 27, 2015 and April 7, 2015. CP 1099-1100, CP 1839-1840, CP 1841-1842, CP 1843-1844, CP 1845-1848.

The central issue of the appeal is whether Respondents acted unfairly, deceptively, or negligently when they induced Mr. Bucci to fall behind on his payments to receive a loan modification without disclosing material information that only the Respondents possessed. CP 325-26; 1544-46. Further, instead of providing Mr. Bucci a modification, Respondents initiated foreclosure proceedings. *Id.* Moreover, Respondents dual tracked<sup>1</sup> Mr. Bucci. Finally, Respondents worked to achieve the

---

<sup>1</sup> “Dual Tracking” means “[w]hen the servicer moves forward with foreclosure while simultaneously working with the borrower to avoid foreclosure Source: Consumer Financial Protection Bureau Press Release located at <http://www.consumerfinance.gov/newsroom/consumer-financial-protection-bureau-rules-establish-strong-protections-for-homeowners-facing-foreclosure/>

nonjudicial foreclosure without the requisite authority and violated multiple provisions of Ch. 61.24 RCW, the Deeds of Trust Act (“DTA”) constituting a multitude of unfair and deceptive acts. *see infra*.

In granting Respondents’ Motions for Summary Judgment, the Superior court erred by relying on inadmissible testimony of the Respondents’ attorney and overstepped its role by judging the credibility of testimony and evidence. CP 1844; 1099-1100. Additionally, the Respondents were not entitled to summary judgment when they did not meet their burden under CR 56(c) and when Mr. Bucci presented genuine issues of material fact regarding all elements of his claims under Ch. 19.86 RCW, the Consumer Protection Act (“CPA”) and negligence.

Accordingly, Mr. Bucci respectfully asks this court to reverse the Superior Court’s orders on summary judgment and remand this case for further proceedings.

## **II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

The issues in this case are as follows:

1. The Superior Court erred by weighing the credibility of the parties’ evidence on summary judgment;
2. The Superior Court erred by admitting the declaration of the defendant's attorney;
3. The Superior Court erred in finding USB was the holder of Bucci’s

note under RCW 62A.3 when the note is not a negotiable instrument because it is a negative amortization note therefore it is not a fixed amount of money;

4. The Superior Court erred in dismissing Bucci's CPA claim against Respondents when:

- a. USB and SPS committed an unfair or deceptive act by initiating the nonjudicial foreclosure without the requisite authority;
- b. Chase committed an unfair or deceptive act by inducing Mr. Bucci to stop making his mortgage payments to receive a loan modification, by failing to give him a modification, by making material misrepresentations, by appointing NWTS to conduct a nonjudicial foreclosure without the requisite authority, and by not providing him a pre-foreclosure letter under RCW 61.24.031;
- c. NWTS conducted the nonjudicial foreclosure without meeting the requisites for sale and in violation of a trustee's duty of good faith;
- d. All respondents actions occurred in trade and commerce;
- e. Mr. Bucci submitted evidence that Respondents' actions affected the public interest and the DTA itself includes a specific declaration of public interest impact;
- f. the respondents actions were a proximate cause of Mr. Bucci's



injuries;

5. The Superior Court erred in dismissing Bucci's negligence claims
6. The Superior Court erred in finding HOLA pre-empted Bucci's claims against JPMorgan Chase.

### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>2</sup>**

On May 22, 2007, Mr. Bucci borrowed money from Washington Mutual Bank, FA (“WAMU”) to purchase his home, which is the subject of this appeal. CP 325 at ¶3. The transaction involved a negatively amortizing adjustable rate note. CP 224-29. After the housing market crashed in 2008, the value of Mr. Bucci’s home plummeted resulting in his home being significantly underwater. CP 325 at ¶4. In response, Mr. Bucci inquired about a loan modification with WAMU. Both WAMU and the subsequent servicer, Chase, advised Mr. Bucci that in order to qualify for a loan modification, Mr. Bucci would need to miss his payments. CP 325-26 at ¶¶5-8; 1544-45 at ¶¶3-4. Mr. Bucci relied on their advice and instead of providing Mr. Bucci with a modification, Chase, in conjunction with the other respondents, dual tracked Mr. Bucci. CP 324-328.

On August 16, 2013, Mr. Bucci filed a complaint against Respondents contesting the nonjudicial foreclosure initiated against him

---

<sup>2</sup> The material facts of this appeal will be addressed with each corresponding issue, *infra*.

by the Respondents. Supp. CP 1-57.<sup>3</sup> Between January 30, 2015 and February 27, 2015, all parties moved for summary judgment. CP 203-219, CP 538-561, CP 1074-1098, CP 1101-1112, CP 1139-1163.

On February 27, 2015, the Superior Court granted SPS and U.S. Bank as Trustee's Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 1099-1100. SPS and U.S. Bank as Trustee's sought summary judgment on the theory they were the current holder of Mr. Bucci's negatively amortizing adjustable rate note because they brought the note to the hearing, endorsed in blank. CP 203-219.<sup>4</sup> The Superior court erroneously agreed. CP 1099-1100.

The remainder of the parties had their motions for summary heard on March 27, 2015. CP 1837-1838. Mr. Bucci's partial motion for summary judgment against NWTS was denied. CP 1839-1840.

On the same day, the Superior Court granted Chase's Motion for Summary Judgment dismissing all claims against Chase with prejudice. CP 1841-1842. Chase argued it was entitled to summary judgment because its actions, including the appointment of NWTS, were done as attorney-in-fact and authorized agent for Bank of America (BANA) and

---

<sup>3</sup> A Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers has been filed with King County Superior Court and is pending Clerk's Action.

<sup>4</sup> There is no evidence in the record regarding which entity was a proper beneficiary of the Deed of Trust throughout the time period described in the complaint. Also, there is no evidence in the record establishing what entity had rights in the note, or what rights those included. See §§ D-E *infra*.

U.S.Bank as Trustees of the trust, who Chase argued were proper beneficiaries. CP 1078:27-1079:6; 1088:2-1089:16.

Lastly, the court granted NWTs and RCO's Motion for Summary Judgment dismissing all claims against them with prejudice. CP 1843-1844. NWTs implicitly conceded the equivocal beneficiary declaration it used as a basis for the nonjudicial foreclosure was defective and instead argued they had sufficient other evidence of the beneficiary's' identity in compliance with RCW 61.24.030(7). CP 549:17-552:1.

These March 27, 2015 orders collectively dismissed Mr. Bucci's entire case. *Compare* CP 1839-1844 *with* CP 1-57.

Confusingly, a couple weeks after all claims were dismissed against Chase and the other Respondents, the Superior Court filed a separate order which granted in part and denied in part Chase's Motion for Judgment on the pleadings ruling that the federal Home Owners Loan Act ("HOLA"), 12 U.S.C. § 1461, *et. seq.*, preempted Mr. Bucci's, "claims to the extent that they are predicated upon Plaintiff's allegation regarding computation of the amount due under Plaintiff's loan and Plaintiff's allegations regarding the calculation and assessment of loan-related fees, including late charges and servicing fees." CP 1845-1846.

Mr. Bucci timely filed his notice of appeal on April 21, 2015.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

##### A. Standard of Review Regarding a Summary Judgment Motion

A Superior Court's ruling on summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*. *Folsom v. Burger King*, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998). Appellate courts must perform an independent inquiry of all materials before the Superior Court to determine whether summary judgment was appropriate. *Id.* (citing *Mountain Park Homeowners Ass'n v. Tyings*, 125 Wn.2d 337, 341, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994)).

On a motion for summary judgment, the court must view the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn from those facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Camicia v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co.*, 179 Wn.2d 684, 687-688, 317 P.3d 987 (2014) (citing CR 56(c)). Summary judgment is proper only where there are no genuine issues of material fact. *Amalgamated Transit v. State*, 142 Wn.2d 183, 11 P.3d 762 (2000); CR 56(c).

The moving party has the burden of establishing the absence of an issue of material fact beyond a reasonable doubt. *Alhadeff v. Meridian on Bainbridge Island, LLC*, 167 Wn.2d 601, 611, 220 P.3d 1214 (2009) (citing *SAS Am., Inc. v. Inada*, 71 Wn. App. 261, 263, 857 P.2d 1047 (Div. I 1993)). A genuine issue of material fact exists where reasonable minds could differ on, or otherwise draw different conclusions from, the

facts controlling the outcome of litigation. *Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce County*, 164 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982)). The burden shifts to the non-moving party to demonstrate the existence of a material issue of fact only if the moving party establishes their “substantial burden” in showing the absence of an issue of material fact. *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 234, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) (Dore, J. concurring in part, dissenting in part).

In granting summary judgment, a court is declaring due process has been fulfilled as well as cutting off the non-moving party's constitutional rights to discovery, and to a jury trial. *See Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Med. Ctr., P.S.*, 1 Wn.2d 974, 979, 216 P.3d 374 (2009), Wash. Const, art. I § 21. To do this without violating Washington's Constitution, it must be beyond dispute that a reasonable person could not find in favor of the non-moving party. CR 56(c); *Folsom*, 135 Wn.2d at 663.

As will be explained *infra*, the Trial Court impermissibly admitted evidence, construed the facts in favor of the moving parties, and misconstrued the burdens of proof applicable to summary judgment.

**B. The Superior Court erred in weighing the credibility of the parties' evidence**

The Superior Court erred by weighing the credibility of the parties' evidence on summary judgment. The court reasoned as follows: "The -- when a defendant moves for summary judgment, he is entitled to put the put the plaintiff's evidence to the test." VP 92:21-23. In regards to Mr. Bucci's evidence, the Superior Court stated, "I do not have credible evidence in front of me in support of each element." VP 93:1-6. For example, in regards to one of the declarations filed by Mr. Bucci, the Superior Court held, "As far as the Johnson declaration, I reviewed it. I find the information provided has zero weight." VP 88:18-19.

When there is contradictory evidence, or the moving party's evidence is impeached, an issue of credibility is presented. *Amend v. Bell*, 89 Wn.2d 124, 129, 570 P.2d 138 (1997). The trial court should not resolve issues of credibility on summary judgment, but should reserve the issue of credibility for trial. *Id*; *see also Dunlap v. Wayne*, 105 Wn.2d 529, 536-7, 716 P.2d 842 (1986); *Balise v. Underwood*, 62 Wn.2d 195, 200, 381 P. 2d 966 (1963). "An issue of credibility is present if there is contradictory evidence or the movant's evidence is impeached." *Id*.

Here, SPS and U.S. Bank as Trustee requested summary judgment not on the basis that Mr. Bucci lacked sufficient evidence, but on the basis that their evidence entitled them to relief. CP 203-215. Specifically, SPS and U.S. Bank as Trustee relied on the declaration of their attorney, for the

proposition that U.S. Bank as Trustee was the holder of Mr. Bucci's note and beneficiary of his deed of trust, therefore all action taken commencing the nonjudicial foreclosure was lawful. CP 220-221. In response, Mr. Bucci introduced evidence contradicting the statements, as discussed *infra*, and requested the Court strike the declaration of SPS and U.S. Bank as Trustee's counsel as improper factual testimony. CP 294-323.

Instead of viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Bucci to determine whether there was a genuine issue of material fact, the Superior Court improperly weighed the evidence and made rulings on the credibility of the parties' evidence. CP 1843-1844; VP. The proper role of the Superior Court was deciding if Mr. Bucci raised a genuine issue of material fact, which he did, not in deciding how much weight should be given to each party's evidence. *See Amend*, 89 Wn.2d at 129; *Balise*, 62 Wn.2d at 200. The Superior court conflated 1) the right of the respondents to test whether Mr. Bucci's could present evidence that raised a genuine issue of material fact with 2) whether or not Mr. Bucci's evidence was more or less credible than the Defendants' evidence. An error that should be reversed.

**C. The Court Erred in allowing testimony by the attorney for Respondents USB and SPS**

In support of its motion for summary judgment, SPS and U.S. Bank as Trustee submitted the declaration of their attorney, J. Will Eidson, which stated on the basis of personal knowledge, “The current holder of the Note and Deed of Trust is U.S. Bank N.A., as trustee . . .” CP 220-221 at ¶4. “After Bucci’s default under the Note and Deed of Trust, he communicated with Chase Bank, N.A. (“Chase”) on multiple occasions concerning a loan modification and short sale.” *Id.* at ¶5. “Also following Bucci’s default, Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. (“NWTS”) commenced, and terminated, a nonjudicial foreclosure proceeding in 2009, then again in 2010 and 2013.” *Id.* at ¶6.

Mr. Eidson, an attorney hired for litigation commenced in 2013, is prohibited by the Washington Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC) from testifying and could not have personal knowledge about events that occurred prior to being retained to defend this lawsuit.

**i. Attorneys are prohibited from testifying in cases where they are also advocates**

In response to Mr. Edison’s proffered testimony, Mr. Bucci put forth legal support that the RPCs prohibit attorneys from acting as witnesses in the same cases in which they are advocates. RPC 3.7(a). *Id.*

Comment 2 to RPC 3.7 explains the rationale behind the rule:

The tribunal has proper objection when the trier of fact may be confused or misled a by a lawyer serving as both advocate and witness. The opposing party has proper objection where



the combination of roles may prejudice that party's rights in the litigation. A witness is required to testify on the basis of personal knowledge, while an advocate is expected to explain and comment on evidence given by others. It may not be clear whether a statement by an advocate-witness should be taken as proof or as an analysis of proof.

While attorneys may testify regarding procedural and process facts, problems arise when attorneys testify regarding issues that go to the merits of the dispute:

The advocate-witness concern arises because lawyers become involved in the client's affairs in their status as lawyer. Lawyers may know facts because they have been involved in the planning of a deal or arrangement or the negotiation of a contract. They may know facts because of investigations undertaken as part of the representation. Lawyers may know process facts, such as what documents are ascertainable from discovery. Lawyers routinely make assertions of procedural and process facts and provide background information to judges without running afoul of the advocate-witness rule. Lawyers do not need to be sworn when asserting these process and background facts because they have an ethical obligation not to make false statements of fact or law to the judge. In these situations lawyers are making representations of fact that will likely affect the procedural presentation of the case, but do not go to the underlying merits. When lawyers have become intertwined with the merits, however, they begin to look more like a traditional fact witness. In these circumstances, any factual statements that a lawyer makes should be subject to the same vetting that all witnesses receive, including the requirement that the witness be sworn and subject to cross examination. Once the lawyer moves into the realm of functioning as both advocate and fact witness, distinct professional responsibility issues arise.

McMorrow, J. A. **The Advocate As Witness: Understanding Culture, Context and Client**, 70 Fordham L. Rev. 945, 946 (2001).

Mr. Edison, as the attorney for SPS and U.S. Bank as Trustee, inappropriately testified to facts, central to the case, in his declaration. CP 220-221. Mr. Eidson made representations coming the current note holder, communications between Mr. Bucci and Chase and the occurrence of multiple non judicial foreclosure action done by NWTs. *Id.*

Additionally, the prejudice RCP 3.7 is designed to prevent exists in this case because there is confusion regarding whether Mr. Eidson's statements that USB as Trustee holds the Note is proof that USB as Trustee has actual possession of the Note or a legal argument that USB as Trustee constitutes a "holder" under the law. Because Mr. Eidson is an advocate, under the Rules he cannot serve as a witness. RPC 3.7; *see also Burmeister v. State Farm Ins. Co.*, 92 Wn. App. 359, 366-368, 966 P.2d 921 (Div. III 2013)(holding an attorney testifying regarding the contents of a police report was inadmissible, and the attorney could not testify regarding the contents of the report based on personal knowledge.)

**ii. Mr. Eidson's testimony was inadmissible**

Mr. Eidson made his declaration based on personal knowledge. CP 220-221. Yet many of statements concern events that occurred prior to the lawsuit, in which he was hired to defend or are hearsay. *Id.* Sworn

statements on summary judgment must be (1) made on personal knowledge, (2) setting forth facts as would be admissible in evidence and (3) showing affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matter stated in the sworn statement. CR 56(e). ER 602 states “A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter.”

Here, Mr. Eidson’s testimony was inadmissible under ER 602, ER 801, ER 802 and under CR 56(e) because he lacked personal knowledge. *See id.*; CR 56(e); *see also Burmeister*, 92 Wn. App. at 366-368; *Pollock v. Pollock*, 7 Wn. App. 394, 405, 499 P.2d 231 (Div. I 1972).

Additionally, Mr. Eidson never introduced any evidence of how he would have personal knowledge of activities that occurred between Respondents and Mr. Bucci before the case was started. CP 220-221.

**D. The Court Erred by finding US Bank to be the holder of a negotiable instrument and the beneficiary of of the deed of trust.**

To nonjudicially foreclose, the foreclosing entity must be a beneficiary under RCW 61.24.005(2). *Bain v. Metro Morg. Grp., Inc.*, 175 Wn.2d 83, 110, 285 P.3d 34 (2012); *Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB*, 176 Wn. App. 475, 484, 488, 309 P.3d 636 (Div. I 2013); *Rucker v. NovaStar Mortg., Inc.*, 177 Wn. App. 1, 14, 311 P.3d 31 (Div. I 2013).

“Beneficiary’ means the holder of the instrument or document evidencing

the obligations secured by the deed of trust, excluding persons holding the same as security for a different obligation.” RCW 61.24.005(2).

Because the DTA does not define the term holder, courts look to the UCC for guidance. *Bain*, 175 Wn.2d at 104. In Washington, the term holder is defined under RCW 62A.1-201(21)(A) Ch. 62A.3 RCW. However, 62A.1-201 and Ch. 62A.3 apply only to instruments that are negotiable. 62A.1-201(21)(A) RCW 62A.3-102 (“This article applies to negotiable instruments). *See also Brown v. Washington State Department of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509, 524, 359 P.3d 771 (2015) (whether a promissory note is subject to article of the UCC depends upon whether or not it is negotiable).

**i. Mr. Bucci’s Negative Amortization Note Is Not Negotiable and Cannot Grant “Holder” Status to Anyone Under RCW 62A.1-201(21)(A)**

Mr. Bucci’s negative amortizing note is not a negotiable instrument subject to RCW 62A.3-104(a) because it has a principle balance that increases.

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