No. 73406-7

(King County Superior Court No. 13-2-29758-2 SEA)

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION I

FRANK BUCCI,

Appellant/Plaintiff,

V.

NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC, et al.,

Respondents/Defendants.

RESPONDENT JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Fred B. Burnside Zana Bugaighis Davis Wright Tremaine LLP Attorneys for JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

1201 Third Ave., Ste. 2200 Seattle, Washington 98101-3045 (206) 622-3150 Phone (206) 757-7700 Fax 2015 APR -4 PM 2: 38

COURT OF APPEALS DIVI

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The only claims before this Court on review are ones for which Plaintiff failed to demonstrate a genuine issue of disputed fact precluding summary judgment and are barred by HOLA. Plaintiff's Complaint alleged several additional theories of liability that they do not pursue on appeal; Plaintiffs have thereby waived any challenge to the dismissal of those claims. *Ang v. Martin*, 154 Wn.2d 477, 486-87 (2005); RAP 10.3(a). Specifically, Plaintiff's opening brief does not challenge dismissal of their allegations that Chase violated the CPA by (1) failing to exercise authority to postpone or reschedule the trustee's sale; (2) wrongly identifying the beneficiary or owner of the note; (3) purporting to have legal authority to foreclose; (4) robo-signing documents. Plaintiff also does not challenge dismissal of his claims under the Deed of Trust Act,

RCW 61.24, *et seq.*, for breach of good faith, for injunctive relief, to quiet title, or under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, RCW 7.24.020.

A. Standard and Scope of Review.

This Court reviews an order granting summary judgment *de novo*. See Loeffelholz v. Univ. of Wash., 175 Wn.2d 264, 271 (2012). Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings and supporting materials "show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c); Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wn.2d 493, 501 (2005). Once the moving party meets the initial burden of demonstrating the absence of genuine issues of material fact, the nonmoving party bears the burden of producing admissible evidence showing that material facts are in dispute. See Atherton Condo. Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Dirs. v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 516 (1990). "A material fact is one upon which the outcome of the litigation depends in whole or in part." Id.

The nonmoving party *cannot* meet that burden "by responding with conclusory allegations, speculative statements, or argumentative assertions." *Pagnotta v. Beall Trailers of Or., Inc.*, 99 Wn. App. 28, 36 (2000). *See also Meyer v. Univ. of Wash.*, 105 Wn.2d 847, 852 (1986) (same). If the nonmoving party "fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to [her] case, and on which [she] will bear the burden of proof at trial,' then the trial court should grant the motion." *Young v. Key Pharmas., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225 (1989) (citation omitted).

B. Plaintiff's Note is a Negotiable Instrument.

Whether an instrument is negotiable is a question of law to be determined by the Court. *See Northern Bank v. Pefferoni Pizza Co.*, 562 N.W.2d 374, 376 (Neb. 1997); *Cartwright v. MBank Corpus Christi, NA.*, 865 S.W.2d 546, 549 (Tex. Ct. App. 1993).

Plaintiff argues the Note is not a negotiable instrument because there must be a promise to pay a fixed amount of money, and the Note provides that the principal amount may change depending on a borrower's payments. OB at 15-22. Plaintiff's argument that the Note is not negotiable fails because he relies on an outdated version of the UCC and the case law that cites to it. *Id.*

Plaintiff's reliance upon *Anderson v. Hoard*, 63 Wn.2d 290 (1963), and earlier cases, to support his arguments is misplaced. *Anderson* was decided under the former UCC, which was repealed in 1965. *Id.* The current definition of "negotiable instrument" under RCW 62A.3-104(a) shows the Note is negotiable. A "negotiable instrument' means an unconditional promise or order to pay a fixed amount of money, with or without interest or other charges described in the promise or order [...]"² 62A.3-104(a); *Brown v. Wash. State Dep't of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509,

² 62A.3-104(a) includes a list of other requirements necessary for a "negotiable instrument," however, Plaintiff does not argue the Note does not meet these other requirements. *See* 62A.3-104(a) (1)-(3) (requiring the note be "payable to bearer or to order," "payable on demand or at a definite time," and "[d]oes not state any other undertaking or instruction by the person promising or ordering payment to do any act in addition to the payment of money").

524 (2015). The Note states exactly that: "I promise to pay U.S. \$1,530,000 plus any amounts added in accordance with Section 4 (G) below, (this amount is called "Principal"), plus Interest, to the order of the Lender." CP 927. Thus, Plaintiff promised to pay the fixed amount of \$1,530,000, plus "other charges described in the promise or order." Those other charges are described in Section 4(G) of the Note, including negative or accelerated amortization, and do not affect negotiability of the instrument. CP 929.

Further, under RCW 62A.3-112(b): "Interest may be stated in an instrument as a fixed or variable amount of money or it may be expressed as a fixed or variable rate or rates. The amount or rate of interest may be stated or described in the instrument in any manner and *may require* reference to information not contained in the instrument. If an instrument provides for interest, but the amount of interest payable cannot be ascertained from the description, then except as otherwise provided in RCW 19.52.010, interest is payable at the judgment rate in effect at the place of payment of the instrument and at the time interest first accrues." (emphasis added).

Washington case law confirms negotiability. Washington courts hold that to meet the fixed-amount requirement, the fixed amount generally must be determinable by reference to the instrument itself without any reference to any outside source. A recent Washington case demonstrates this approach. In *Alpacas of America v. Groome*, 179 Wn.

App. 391 (2014), the court explained, "[w]e analyze the promissory notes' contents to determine whether the notes' holder could determine her or his rights, duties, and obligations with respect to the payment on the notes without having to examine any other documents." *Id.* at 397 (citing RCW 62A.3-106 cmt. 1). This rule, which is reflected in the UCC negotiability provisions and the related comments, follows from the purpose and policy behind the concept of a negotiable instrument.³ Indeed, RCW 62A.3-106 cmt. 1 states, in part:

The rationale is that the holder of a negotiable instrument should not be required to examine another document to determine rights with respect to payment. But subsection (b)(i) permits reference to a separate writing for information with respect to collateral, prepayment, or acceleration. Many notes issued in commercial transactions are secured by collateral, are subject to acceleration in the event of default, or are subject to prepayment. A statement of rights and obligations concerning collateral, prepayment, or acceleration does not prevent the note from being an instrument if the statement is in the note itself.

RCW 62A.3-106; see also RCW 62A.3-104(a)(3); RCW 62A.3-108(b).

Thus, negotiability exists if the fixed amount can be determined from the face of the instrument, except with respect to calculations and amounts of interest, for which reference to information not contained in

³ "The whole purpose of the concept of a negotiable instrument under Article 3 is to declare that transferees in the ordinary course of business are only to be held liable for information appearing in the instrument itself and will not be expected to know of any limitations on negotiability or changes in terms, etc., contained in any separate documents. See First State Bank at Gallup v. Clark, 91 N.M. 117 (1977).

the Note is allowable. The fact that the Note provides for the accrual and payment of variable amounts of interest and interest rates, some of which may, under specified circumstances be re-characterized as principal up to a maximum limit, is all disclosed and set out in detail on the face of the Note. CP 927-29. Therefore, the Note is negotiable.

C. The Trial Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment for Chase on Plaintiff's CPA Claim.

A private cause of action exists under the CPA only if (1) the conduct is unfair or deceptive, (2) occurs in trade or commerce, (3) affects the public interest, and (4) causes injury (5) to plaintiff's business or property. Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 780 (1986). The trial court properly dismissed Plaintiff's CPA claim against Chase because Plaintiff did not (and could not) demonstrate any facts supporting the required elements. CP 1841-42.

1. Plaintiff Cannot Demonstrate An Unfair or Deceptive Act or Practice.

"[W]hether the [alleged] conduct constitutes an unfair or deceptive act can be decided by this court as a question of law." *Indoor*Billboard/Wash., Inc. v. Integra Telecom of Wash., 162 Wn.2d 59, 74

(2007). Plaintiff could meet the first CPA element in only two ways: establishing either that an act or practice (i) "has a capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public," or (ii) that "the alleged act constitutes a per se unfair trade practice." Saunders v. Lloyd's of London, 113 Wn.2d 330, 344 (1989) (quoting Hangman Ridge, 105 Wn.2d at 785-86).

Additionally, to violate the CPA, the act or practice must be one that "misleads or misrepresents something of material importance." *Nguyen v. Doak Homes, Inc.*, 140 Wn. App. 726, 734 (2007).

Neither Plaintiff's Complaint nor his appeal alleged any per se unfair trade practice. Nor did Plaintiffs allege facts showing Chase committed an unfair or deceptive act or practice more generally that had the capacity to deceive a substantial portion of the public. *Hangman Ridge*, 105 Wn.2d at 785.

On appeal, Plaintiff alleges that Chase committed an unfair or deceptive act by:

[1.] inducing Mr. Bucci to stop making his mortgage payments to receive a loan modification, [2.] by failing to give him a modification, [3.] by making material misrepresentations, [4.] by appointing NWTS to conduct a nonjudicial foreclosure without the requisite authority, and [5.] by not providing him a pre-foreclosure letter under RCW 61.24.031.

OB at 3. Plaintiff's brief discusses material misrepresentations only in the context of Plaintiff's failure to obtain a loan modification. OB at 32. Plaintiff fails to allege in his Complaint, or present substantive argument on appeal, that Chase did not provide him a pre-foreclosure letter under RCW 61.24.031. Thus, this allegation is waived. *Ang*, 154 Wn.2d at 486-87; RAP 10.3(a). Plaintiff's other allegations fail for the reasons discussed below.

Chase Did Not Induce Plaintiff to Default. Plaintiff argues
WaMu and Chase induced him to default on his loan. OB at 30-31.

Courts routinely reject fraud claims based on allegations that banks told them to default on their loans. *See Atkins v. Litton Loan Serv., LLP*, 2010 WL 3184350, at *3 (N.D. Cal. 2010) (dismissing unfair competition claim based on allegation that bank told borrower to default to be considered for loan modification because the underlying fraud was not adequately plead); *Mortenson v. Mortg. Elec. Registration Sys., Inc.*, 2010 WL 5376332, at **7-8 (S.D. Ala. 2010) (granting judgment against borrower on fraud claim alleging borrower induced default); *Vega v. CTX Mortg. Co.*, 761 F. Supp. 2d 1095, 1100 (D. Nev. 2011) (dismissing promissory estoppel claim alleging Chase told plaintiff's to default to obtain a modification)]. Plaintiff's CPA claim suffers the same defects.

First, Plaintiff alleges in his Complaint only that he was dual-tracked, CP 17, and below and on appeal that "the only way [he] could qualify for a loan modification was to miss mortgage payments." CP 1544-45; OB at 30-31. In essence, Plaintiff alleges that Chase told him it does not modify performing loans, because there is no reason for doing so (and if Plaintiff wanted a refinance he could apply for that option). Plaintiff does *not* allege that he was promised a loan modification if he became delinquent, or that Chase would assist him in any way beyond processing his application. Chase's alleged statements do no more than advise Plaintiff of modification requirements. *See Shook v. Scott*, 56 Wn.2d 351, 355 (1960) (rejecting as "mere estimate" statements about future performance because "[t]he first essential [for a fraud claim] is that

the statement be a representation of an existing fact."). Regardless, even equivocal assurances fail as actionable promises or as a basis for reasonable reliance. See Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Westwood Lumber, Inc., 65 Wn. App. 811, 824 (1992); see also Lectus, Inc. v. Rainier Nat'l Bank, 97 Wn.2d 584, 587-90 (1982) (company could not reasonably rely on a future conditional promise that program development was deferred "until we have a resolution of our class-action suit"). And Plaintiff admits he was in fact considered for loan modifications, but he was denied because the unpaid principal balance on his loan was higher than the HAFA Program limit and because he did not provide all the documents required for a modification application. CP 898-890. Plaintiff was denied a short sale because he failed to respond to requests for documents and information, CP 904, and he cancelled his FFA mediation after he decided unilaterally that the beneficiary wouldn't mediate in good faith. CP 789; CP 697 at 107:6-23.

These allegations are not sufficient to show that Chase made any intentionally false misrepresentation of a material existing fact, or that Plaintiff relied on false representations to his detriment. In *Atkins*, the court explained:

[P]laintiffs' claim presupposes that Litton (and the lender) not only would consider a loan modification application, but that a loan modification agreement would in fact be reached. Plaintiffs have alleged no facts or representations by Litton that would support their reasonable reliance on an expectation of such an outcome.

2010 WL 3184350, at *3; see also); Mortenson, 2010 WL 5376332, at *8 ("plaintiff's own testimony reflects that when he called defendants to request forbearance, they merely informed him that he would have to be in default to be considered for such relief. This was not a false statement."); Vega, 761 F. Supp. 2d at 100 ("Plaintiffs plead no facts to support their conclusion that Chase intended to default without negotiating in good faith. A promise to negotiate is not a promise to modify.").

Second, Plaintiff does not allege that Chase's purported misrepresentations prevented him from curing his default. Plaintiff admits he did not attempt to pay the arrears on his loan after he defaulted because he "didn't want to" and that under no circumstances would he pay for the outstanding balance of the loan because there was "negative equity" in the Property. CP 864 at 276:13-278:10. Plaintiff admits he has an "obligation to pay." *Id.* Thus, Plaintiff failed to cure, but does not allege (and cannot show) that his failure to cure the default was somehow attributable to any Chase representations. To the contrary, Plaintiff refused to pay on the loan because the Property was "under water." Plaintiff knew he needed to cure default to avoid foreclosure but chose not to do so.

Accordingly, the Court should reject Plaintiff's CPA claim. *See Atkins*, 2010 WL 3184350, at *3 ("if plaintiffs were in fact able and willing to make the payments had they allegedly been advised not to do so, they have not alleged facts explaining why their purported reliance on Litton's representations rendered them unable to pay the amounts past due

once it became clear that foreclosure was going forward."); *Mortenson*, 2010 WL 5376332, at *8 ("Because the record unequivocally shows that Mortensen would have defaulted—even in the absence of purportedly fraudulent representations by defendants—because he was simply out of money, he cannot meet the reliance element of his fraud claims as a matter of law").

Chase is Not Required to Modify Plaintiff's Loan. Plaintiff alleges Chase acted deceptively by "failing to disclose to Bucci that if he failed to make his payments, they would take his home and not provide him a loan modification." OB at 32. Plaintiff also alleges Chase's alleged act of "dual tracking"—exploring modification options while reserving the right to pursue foreclosure—was unfair and deceptive. OB at 32-33.

But disappointment over a loan-modification denial is not actionable under any theory: "While the parties may choose to renegotiate their agreement, they are under no good faith obligation to do so."

Badgett v. Sec. State Bank, 116 Wn.2d 563, 572 (1991); see also

Ogorsolka v. Residential Credit Solutions, Inc., 2014 WL 2860742, *4-*5

(W.D. Wash. 2014) (lender has no duty to modify loan); McPherson v.

Homeward Residential, 2014 WL 442378, *6 (W.D. Wash. 2014)

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